FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/22/2025
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON
CLERK

Case #: 1042116

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
5/21/2025 4:08 PM

In the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington, District 1

Case Number: <u>85755-0</u>

Petition for Review by the Supreme Court of Washington

Lee Jorgensen, Petitioner

V.

Natalie Sears, NKA Yuse, Respondent

Table of Contents

Tables: Pages 1 thru 9

Identity of Petitioner: Page 10

Citation to Court of Appeals Decision: Pages 10 thru 11

Issues for Review: Pages 11 thru 13

Statement of Case: Pages 13 thru 20

Argument: Pages 21 thru 35

References to Authorities: Pages 35 thru 36

References to Authorities: Pages 43 thru 48

References to CP's – (Testimony): Pages 40 thru 43

Conclusion: Pages 48 thru 49

Certification & Signature: Page 49

Table of Cases

Connell v. Francisco, 127 Wn. 2d 339, 346 (Wash. 1995)

-Relevant portion directly quoted in Brief, p.44

Dautel v. United Pacific Ins. Co., 48 Wn. App. 759 (Wash. Ct. App. 1987)

-Relevant portion directly quoted in Brief, p.26-27-

In Re: The Marriage of Flagella and Flagella, No. 49066-8-II Consolidated With 49763-8-II

--Relevant portion directly quoted in Brief, p.55-

In General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. Grange Ins. Ass'n, 38 Wn. App. 6, 684 P.2d 744 (1984)

-Relevant portion directly quoted in Brief, p.27-28-

Gonzaga Law Review [Vol. 40:1]

Community Property Interests in Separate Property Businesses in Washington J. Mark Weiss

p.57 of Brief

In re Harris, No. 84501-2-I (Wash. Ct. App. July 1, 2024)

After trial, the court weighed the competing testimony and found Harris' version of events more credible. The court explained that Harris "testified in a straightforward, calm, and forthright manner" and that his "claims about his relationship with [Brimlow] were reasonable in the context of the other evidence." The court also found Harris' witnesses credible. Accordingly, in its findings of fact and conclusions of law, the court found:

(a) [T]he parties continually cohabitated for nearly 16 years; (b) the relationship existed for nearly another two years prior to that, for a total of 18 years; (c) the purpose of the relationship was primarily a romantic one, though they had business interests together; (d) the parties pooled their resources and services for the many joint projects they engaged in; and (e) the intent of the parties, including [Brimlow]'s to the end was to live together as a mostly committed and exclusive relationship.

As a result, the court concluded that the evidence supported the existence of a CIR. *p.44 of Brief*

Harry M. Cross, Community Property Law in Washington (Revised 1985), 61 Wn. L. Rev. 13, 23 (1986)

p.57 of Brief

Koher v Morgan, 93 Wn. App. 398, 402 (Wash. Ct. App. 1998)

Under *Connell*, Koher's earnings during his relationship with Morgan are analogous to the earnings of a spouse during marriage, which are traditionally characterized as M. community property. See Harry Cross, The Community Property Law in Washington, 61 Wn. L. Rev. 13, 30 n.84 (1986). We have recently held that under Connell, a party's labor is an asset of the meretricious relationship and any earnings during the relationship similarly belong to the marriage-like community. In re Marriage of Lindemann, 92 Wn. App. 64, 72, 960 P.2d 966, 971 (1998). Here, the trial court determined that the relationship had not received adequate compensation for Koher's work because Koher had taken an artificially low salary. Koher testified that he had worked hard during the relationship to rebuild his businesses and that they were profitable because he was able to buy cheaper, older equipment which he repaired himself or trained others to repair. The trial court

determined that given the profits generated by the businesses over the course of the relationship, Koher had undercompensated himself by approximately \$196,700.

Out of the \$355,516 Koher drew as wages during the relationship, Koher gave approximately \$80,000 to Morgan for relationship expenses. With the remainder of his salary and profits, Koher acquired property and funded equipment and other investments. Under *Connell*, courts apply a community property-like presumption to property acquired during a meretricious relationship regardless of how title taken. Connell, 127 Wn.2d at 351. A party asserting his separate interest may rebut the presumption with evidence that the assets were acquired with funds that would have been characterized as his separate property if he had been married. See Connell, 127 Wn.2d at 352. Although Koher had used both his salary and separate business profits to acquire these assets, he could not identify the type of funds used for each acquisition. Because Koher had not taken a reasonable salary during the relationship, the court found that he had commingled his profits with the income owned by the meretricious relationship as compensation for his labor and had continuously intermixed large sums of separate and relationship income in his personal and business accounts.

p.53 of Brief

Koher argues that the court improperly applied the commingling rule to his accumulated income and profits, contending that the court should have found only a right to reimbursement for the earnings he had foregone. Under *Lindsey* and *Connell*, the court has a duty to make a just and equitable distribution of all property considered to be owned by both parties in a meretricious relationship. *Connell*, 127 Wn.2d at 351, citing Lindsey, 101 Wn.2d at 307. Koher had indiscriminately used relationship funds for his investments and was

unable to trace any portion of the disputed assets to his separate profits. In these circumstances, we find that it was not an abuse of the trial court's discretion to conclude that it was more appropriate and fair to find that the assets Koher had acquired were subject to distribution, applying by analogy "the basic presumption that an asset on hand during marriage is community property[.]" Cross, 61 Wn. L. Rev., *supra*, at 56; *see also Lindemann*, 92 Wn. App. at 79 (affirming the trial court's application of the commingling rule to funds deposited in a joint account during a meretricious relationship).

Koher also argues that the trial court's application of the presumption is inequitable because it retroactively recharacterizes his profits and acquisitions, which he contends were his separate assets during the relationship. We recently rejected the claim that a party's labor during his meretricious relationship was a separate contribution to a business he owned before the relationship began, stating that "labor performed during a marital or quasimarital relationship has a community character from its inception. In our community property system, there is no basis for allocating one party's labor to a separate property account." Lindemann, 92 Wn. App. at 73. Here, the parties' ownership interests in Koher's income accrued contemporaneously, as it was earned. Similarly, the community property-like status of the couple's investments became fixed when Koher acquired the assets with funds that included his actual earnings, his business profits, and earnings he had foregone. See In re Estate of Binge, 5 Wn.2d 446, 484, 105 P.2d 689 (1940) ("It is the rule in this state that the status of property, whether real or personal, becomes fixed as of the date of its purchase or acquisition[.]"). We conclude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Morgan had an ownership interest in the property Koher acquired during their relationship.

p.44 of Brief

Latham v. Hennessey, 87 Wn.2d 550, 554, 554 P.2d 1057 (1976)

The law of implied partnership is accurately stated in *Nicholson v. Kilbury*, 83 Wn. 196, 202, 145 P. 189 (1915):

The existence of a partnership depends upon the intention of the parties. That intention must be ascertained from all of the facts and circumstances and the actions and conduct of the parties. While a contract of partnership, either expressed or implied, is essential to the creation of the partnership relation, it is not necessary that the contract be established by direct evidence. The existence of the partnership may be implied from circumstances, and this is especially true where, as here, the evidence touching the inception of the business and the conduct of the parties throughout its operation, not only tends to show a joint or common venture but is in the main inconsistent with any other theory. Bridgman v. Winsness, 34 Utah 383, 98 P. 186. It is well settled that no one fact or circumstance will be taken as the conclusive test. Where, from all the competent evidence, it appears that the parties have entered into a business relation combining their property, labor, skill and experience, or some of these elements on the one side and some on the other, for the purpose of joint profits, a partnership will be deemed established.

p.44 of Brief

In re Marriage of Lindemann, 92 Wn. App. 64, 72, 79, 960 P.2d 966, 971 (1998)

David claims Kimi failed to prove that the increase in value of his business was due to community effort. But again, there is adequate support for the court's finding that the increase in value of the business was entirely attributable to Davids labor. The business initially was marginal and did not prosper until 1991, when David overcame a drug addiction and was able to be more

effective and productive. David testified that he worked about 65 hours a week and that the business would fail without his presence and his personal efforts. There was no evidence that the business would have survived. appreciated or earned any income due to its inherent qualities. David made no showing that the increase in value of his business was due to rents, issues, or profits. [8, 9] Ordinarily, a marital community is entitled to the fruits of all labor performed by either party to the relationship because each spouse is the servant of the community. David argues that this rule should not apply to a quasi-marital relationship because the parties have decided not to commit themselves formally to the mutual obligations of a marital community. But if the labor of each party during a quasi-marital relationship were to be presumptively regarded as separate in character, little would remain of the Supreme Court's in Connell. The courts intention in Connell was to "allow the trial court to justly divide property the couple has earned during the relationship through their efforts." The "community" in that case was held entitled to reimbursement for the value of one members labor. We similarly conclude that David owed his efforts to his quasi-marital community to the same extent as if they had been married.

P.44 of Brief

Matter of Marriage of Lindemann, 92 Wn. App. 64, 92 Wash. App. 64, 960 P.2d 966 (Wash. Ct. App. 1998)

-Directly quoted in Brief, p.52-53-

Morgan v. Briney, 200 Wash. App. 380

In Re The Marriage of Pearson-Maines, 70 Wn. App. 860 (Wash. Ct. App. 1993)

--Relevant portion directly quoted in Brief, p.53-54-

In re Pennington, 142 Wn. 2d 592 (Wash. 2000)

Our Legislature requires a solemnized "civil contract" in order for a marriage to be valid. **RCW** also RCW 26.04.050. 26.04.010(1); see .120. .130; Meton v. Indus. Ins. Dep't, 104 Wn. 652, 655, 177 P. 696 (1919); In re Estate of McLaughlin, 4 Wn. 570, 588-89, 30 P. 651 (1892); Roe v. Ludtke Trucking, *Inc.*, 46 Wn. App. 816, 819, 732 P.2d 1021 (1987). Common-law marriage is not recognized Washington law. Peffley-Warner v. Bowen, 113 Wn.2d 243, 249, 778 P.2d 1022 (1989); In re Estate of Gallagher, 35 Wn.2d 512, 514-15, 213 621 (1950). Wholly unrelated to either kind of marriage, courts have recognized the existence of meretricious relationships, which this court has determined to be stable, cohabiting relationships. See Connell, 127 Wn.2d at 346.

Washington will recognize common-law marriages validly entered into in other states, but this exception is not applicable to the present cases. *Peffley-Warner*, 113 Wn.2d at 249 (citing *In re Welfare of Warren*, 40 Wn.2d 342, 344, 243 P.2d 632 (1952); *Gallagher*, 35 Wn.2d at 514-15).

For nearly a century, Washington law presumed all property acquired by unmarried cohabitants belonged to the holder of the legal title. See, e.g., Latham v. Wn.2d 550, 552-53, 554 P.2d Hennessey, 87 1057 (1976); Creasman v. Boyle, 31 Wn.2d 358, 196 P.2d 835 (1948); Engstrom v. Peterson, 107 Wn. 523, 530, 182 P. 623 (1919); Stans v. Baitey, 9 Wn. 115, 119, 37 P. 316 (1894). However, even when this presumption applied, courts recognized a variety of exceptions to this presumption. See Latham, 87 Wn.2d at 553-54. Among these exceptions were: (1) tracing source of funds, West v. Knowles, 50 Wn.2d 311, 313, 311 P.2d 689 (1957); (2) implied partnership/joint venture, *In re* Estate of Thornton, 81 Wn.2d 72, 78-81, 499 P.2d 864 (1972); (3) resulting trusts, Walberg v. Mattson, 38

Wn.2d 808, 812-14, 232 P.2d 827 (1951); (4) constructive trusts, *Humphries v. Riveland*, 67 Wn.2d 376, 389-90, 407 P.2d 967 (1965); (5) tenancy in common, *Shull v. Shepherd*, 63 Wn.2d 503, 506, 387 P.2d 767 (1963); and (6) contract theory, *Dahlgren v. Blomeen*, 49 Wn.2d 47, 50-52, 298 P.2d 479 (1956).

In 1984, this court discarded this presumption. Lindsey, 101 Wn.2d 299. Lindsey involved a couple who commenced an intimate relationship in 1974, legally married in 1976, and divorced in 1982. Lindsey, 101 Wn.2d at 300. The court declined to presume that property acquired before the legal marriage belonged to the holder of title, instead holding "that courts must 'examine the [meretricious] relationship and the property accumulations and make a just and equitable disposition of the property." Lindsey, 101 Wn.2d at 304 (quoting *Latham*, 87 Wn.2d at 554). p.45 of Brief

Warden v. Warden, 36 Wn. App. 693 (Wash. Ct. App. 1984)

Identity of Petitioner

This Petition for review is made by Lee Jorgensen,
Petitioning party in a Committed Intimate Relationship
matter dating back to April of 2020 in The Superior
Court of the County of King.

Petitioner seeks review by The Supreme Court of a decision made in District 1 of The Court of Appeals to affirm the decision of The Superior Court dismissing the Petitioner's case with prejudice on a **CR 41(b)(3)** motion, made by the Respondent, after review by that Court filed by Mr. Jorgensen.

Citation of Court of Appeals Decision

Said decision was filed on 21 April, 2025 in The Court of Appeals, District 1 under No. 857550 in that Court, and states:

Smith, J. – Lee Jorgensen appeals from a trial court decision granting a CR 41(b)(3) motion and dismissing his petition to dissolve an alleged committed intimate relationship with his former

romantic partner, Natalie Sears. Jorgensen contends the trial court's decision is not supported by substantial evidence in the record, challenges several trial management decisions, and contends he was deprived of a fair trial because of his status as a pro se litigant and bias. Substantial evidence in the record supports the trial court's findings and Jorgensen's other assertions of error do not provide a basis for reversal.

We affirm

Issues for Review

Petitioner enumerates the specific issues as follows:

- 1. The Court's opinion, *O.P. 1,* does not completely and accurately express my reasons for appealing the decision of the lower Court.
- 2. I believe my assertions of error of the lower Court to be substantiate.

Page 11 of 49
Petition for Review
By The Supreme Court

- 3. No oral argument was heard by the appellate Court to aid it in understanding the totality of my position and experience in the lower Court during the trial.
- 4. The Court's decision, finding(s) and subsequent decision(s) are in conflict with published Court of Appeals finding(s) and decision(s).
- 5. The Court's finding(s) and opinion/decision(s) are in direct conflict with review of the same case in the same Court, (Albeit by a panel of different Judges in District 1, unanimous.), prior to this review. See: Op. [emphasis ex.: P. 10] Also see: In re Jorgensen v Sears, No. 82556-9-I, slip op. at 14 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 14, 2022) (unpublished), https://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf/825569.pdf
 - [emphasis ex.: P. 14]
- 6. The Court found as, "fact", assertions made by the Respondent which were supported without evidence. Op. P. 2 - 6

- 7. The Court describes as different in nature and in conflict of one another, details of a certain event(s) in the record and testimony. *Op. P.3 & 9*
- 8. The admits prior prejudice against bifurcation in its statement. *See: Op. P.13*
- 9. "Due Process of Law" under the fifth and fourteenth amendments were impeded by Court decision(s) and administrative management during the case.
- 10. Ultimately, Petitioner believes the findings and opinion of the Court are in error.

Statement of the Case

This case was brought before the Court after an almost fourteen and a half year relationship between the parties. The case history is clearly described in the record documents, briefs filed, and opinion(s)/decision(s) of the Courts it has been in over its five years now. For the history of this case and its events, it's been before two Superior Court judges.

Under retired Judge Catherine Shaffer, see: appellants' brief, August, 2021 P. 1-3

Under Judge Chad Allred see: appellants' brief, P. 14 - 19

This case was examined as a, "frivolous", act on the part of the Petitioner, Lee Jorgensen in review by the Court of Appeals. However, the Court found it not to be, and, thus, the Petitioner seemed to have had basis for the appealing of the case to be heard, as the Court found in favor of the Petitioner on that issue. Then declined to award fees to the Respondent as sanctions against the Petitioner. *Op. P. 20*

It has been in litigation for five years as a case of a committed intimate relationship, as asserted by the Petitioner, Lee Jorgensen in April of 2020 after the uncontested breakup of the parties in January of that year. It only comes to litigation in the Court after a couple of months or so of attempted negotiations by the parties to fairly settle the matters pertaining to the

Page 14 of 49
Petition for Review
By The Supreme Court

successful building of a business, (Which was near failing when the parties met.). The acquisition of properties where the parties cohabited over the years of the relationship. (For which, the Respondent would not have been able to maintain financially without the funds earned by the efforts contributed to the buildup by the Petitioner in the business, Deckhand Detailing, LLC. Then hopelessly comingled without objection by the Petitioner as the intent of him was that the relationship was for the duration of his lifetime. Which, in all appearances to the Petitioner, family and friends, and the community was shared mutually by the parties. There are volumes of evidence, and testimony given during the trial and in the record supporting the existence of a CIR, (Committed Intimate Relationship), in this case.

Petitioner respectfully stands by his assertions that the relationship between the parties was a CIR. And that procedural and discretionary errors were made leading up to the trial, as well as during it.

Page 15 of 49
Petition for Review
By The Supreme Court

Some of these discretionary errors prejudiced the Petitioner, denying him the opportunity to prove, through discovery, the issue of hopelessly comingled funds. Establishing that the significant contributions in unpaid and underpaid labor for all those years during the relationship helped build, pay for, improve the value of, and maintain the assets and properties. Specifically, the business and the two properties in question. A cabin in Cle Elum, and a condominium in Seattle.

Another discretionary error, in my opinion, denied me, basically forcing me into a position where the attorney I had retained to handle presenting my case to the trier, Honorable Judge Chad Allred, was refused a brief continuance even though, I believe, he showed good cause for one. First on a motion, then on a motion for reconsideration. And had to withdraw from my case. With about one month or less to the trial date at that point, even though I tried frantically, no attorney I called, (And I called many.), would touch my case knowing a continuance would be refused. And inadequate time

Page 16 of 49
Petition for Review
By The Supreme Court

remained for any attorney to properly prepare for a trial to present my case.

Though I cannot say for certain. It did prompt me, though, to call into question whether or not the trier foreknew the consequences I would face, (Presenting my case *pro se.*), in light of a refusal on his part to grant the requested continuance. As well as the questioning of whether or not there was intent and/or purpose in so doing. Again, I cannot say for certain. But the mere existence of the question is remarkable. As well as bothersome.

This was a lengthy relationship, and very complex in nature with all the build up of the assets, business, and properties. Especially considering the funds were hopelessly comingled and no records existed recording the separate contributions of the parties. Nor had I ever kept track of, or reviewed those details over the course of the relationship. I was completely motivated by my love for Natalie, and didn't really put to matter that things like the business and properties were not identified as jointly

Page 17 of 49
Petition for Review
By The Supreme Court

owned, nor was I motivated by having money paid to me

for my efforts and labor in our joint projects.

So, when we split up, and couldn't come to a fair

agreement between us, I had to attempt to do it in the

Courts.

The case has seen two decisions to dismiss it, and

has been to the Court of Appeals twice. The first

dismissal, under a Motion for Summary Judgement

decision was reversed in the Court of Appeals. The

second time affirmed, upholding the decision to dismiss

the case with prejudice in the Superior Court under a CR

41(b)(3) motion.

This is a preponderance of evidence case, neither

time Respondents' case/position was presented and/or

heard.

Wherefore, I continue to believe that, in light of all

the evidence in the record, and the testimony of the seven

third party witnesses heard. And, in that the credibility of

her testimony is, at best, obviously in serious question

Page 18 of 49

when looked at. I have justified my assertions, without

question, to the reasonably thinking mind.

It is due to this that I now exercise the option of

bringing my case before the highest Court in The State of

Washington – Washingtons' Supreme Court for review

of the opinion/decision of The Court of Appeals in

District One.

As a common citizen seeking justice in a case

where a doctrine instead of a codified law is used,

making the matter much more difficult to determine

accurately due to the nature of interpreting this kind of

relationship by the jurist interpreting it, without the

element of subjectiveness and/or perception of the

interpreter overcoming objectiveness. Using truth and

fact as an ultimate authority, in concert with similar prior

judgement and opinions. To which I believe I presented

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