FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/1/2025 10:06 AM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

No. 104211-6

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEE G. JORGENSEN,

Petitioner,

v.

NATALIE A. SEARS,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

V. FREITAS LAW PLLC SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Veronica A. Freitas WSBA No. 19405

By: Valerie Villacin WSBA No. 34515 Nicholas Bartels WSBA No. 62844

544 29th Avenue Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 328-7362 1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

C. Argument Why the Court Should Deny Review.

This Court should deny review because Jorgensen fails to show that the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion meets any of the requirements for review under RAP 13.4(b).

1. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion does not conflict with any of the published appellate court opinions addressing the CIR doctrine and the factors that courts must consider.

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion does not conflict with a published opinion of this Court or the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). Contrary to Jorgensen's assertion (Pet. 16), the Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with either *Connell v. Francisco*, 127 Wn.2d 339, 898 P.2d 831

(1995) or *Morgan v. Briney*, 200 Wn. App. 380, 403 P.3d 86 (2017), *rev. denied*, 190 Wn.2d 1023 (2018), both of which, like the Court of Appeals opinion here, affirmed a trial court's CIR decision, as being supported by substantial evidence. Nor does the Court of Appeals opinion here conflict with this Court's decision in *Marriage of Pennington*, 142 Wn.2d 592, 14 P.3d 764 (2000) (Pet. 16), which held that the two relationships at issue in that case were not CIRs warranting an equitable division of property.

Jorgensen's argument that the Court of Appeals' opinion in this case conflicts with its unpublished opinion in his first appeal (Pet. 6, 17) does not warrant review. Leaving aside that an unpublished opinion cannot create a RAP 13.4(b)(2) conflict, the opinions do not in fact conflict.

The first appeal *did not* establish that "the Court found in 2022 it was, indeed, a CIR we were in for twelve years, and the facts and evidence in the record supported

it." (Pet. 14) The Court of Appeals reversed the summary judgment order dismissing Jorgensen's CIR claim, not because it concluded the parties were in a CIR, but because it held the trial court erred by deciding the issue "as a matter of law." (CP 694) In light of the summary judgment standard requiring the court to "consider all facts submitted and all reasonable inferences from those facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party," which was Jorgensen, the Court of Appeals held the trial court erred in granting summary judgment since "reasonable persons could reach more than one conclusion about whether the parties' relationship was a CIR." (CP 694)

The decision being reviewed in this appeal is not on summary judgment, but after a trial, where the trial court, as "trier of fact... weighed the evidence and made a factual finding that Jorgensen failed to come forth with credible evidence of a prima facie case" establishing his claims that the parties were in a CIR, requiring an equitable division of

community-like assets. (CP 992) The standard of review for this appeal from an order entered after a trial is far more deferential to the trial court than in the first appeal from a summary judgment order, which was de novo.

Based on this standard of review, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's decision when it held "the court's findings as to the CIR factors are supported by substantial evidence in the record, and those findings, in turn, support its conclusion that the parties' relationship did not constitute a CIR." (Op. 10) In doing so, the Court of Appeals considered the trial court's findings on each of the CIR factors described in Connell, Pennington, and Morgan. As this Court has held, "these factors are meant to reach all relevant evidence helpful in establishing whether a [CIR] exists. Thus, whether relationships are properly characterized as [a CIR] depends upon the facts of each case." Pennington, 142 Wn.2d at 602 (cited sources omitted).

The trial court's findings include: (1) that "the parties' cohabitation was not continuous" (Op. 7); (2) that the nature and purpose of the relationship did not establish that "it was a 'stable marital-like relationship for any specific period of time" (Op. 8); (3) that there was "limited pooling of resources and services" if any (Op. 9); (4) and that any "intent to have a permanent, committed relationship was neither sustained nor mutual." (Op. 9-10) After concluding that these findings were supported by substantial evidence, the Court of Appeals properly held that "those findings, in turn, support its conclusion that the parties' relationship did not constitute a CIR." (Op. 10)

Jorgensen seems to tacitly acknowledge that his argument falls short under the recognized CIR factors because he argues that there should be a "sixth factor/element" loosely related to principles of agency. (Pet. 27-28) However, as the five-factor test for a CIR described in *Connell, Pennington*, and *Morgan* is settled

law in this state, and was properly applied by the Court of Appeals in its unpublished opinion, review is not warranted.

As the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion is wholly consistent with published appellate court opinions addressing the CIR doctrine, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).

2. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's fact-based decision as supported by substantial evidence does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

This Court should also deny review because the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's fact-based decision that Jorgensen was not entitled to relief under the CIR doctrine does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Jorgensen's arguments in his petition are devoted to relitigating the weight of the evidence and the trial court's finding that Sears was a credible witness. (Pet. 16-26) For instance,

Jorgensen argues that "[t]his was a preponderance of the evidence case won by a party to the cause without presenting any credible evidence as to whether or not a CIR existed." (Pet. 25, see also Pet. 12) However, this argument ignores that he, as the petitioner, failed to put on sufficient evidence establishing that a CIR in fact existed. Further, even if he did prove that a CIR existed, he failed to meet his burden to show that any of Natalie's separate property—the business, the Queen Anne condo, and the Cle Elum cabin—was actually community-like property, warranting an equitable division.

In seeking review of the Court of Appeals opinion, Jorgensen asks this Court "to examine this case in somewhat *de novo* fashion in the interest of justice." (Pet. 14, *see also* Pet. 29) But where the trial court has weighed the evidence and made "a factual determination that the plaintiff has failed to come forth with credible evidence of a prima facie case" under CR 41(b)(3), "appellate review is

limited to whether substantial evidence supports the findings and whether the findings support the conclusions of law. *Hendrickson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State*, 2 Wn. App. 2d 343, 352, ¶23, 409 P.3d 1162, *rev. denied*, 190 Wn.2d 1030 (2018).

Jorgensen's arguments in support of review plainly overlook a core tenant of appellate review that, where a trial court's findings are being reviewed for substantial evidence, "the reviewing court will not substitute its judgment for that of the fact finder even though it may have resolved a factual dispute differently." In re G.W.-F., 170 Wn. App. 631, 637, ¶17, 285 P.3d 208 (2012) (internal quotations and quoted source omitted). "Thus, [the reviewing court] defers to the trier of fact for resolution of conflicting testimony, evaluation of the evidence's of the witnesses' persuasiveness, and assessment credibility." G.W.-F., 170 Wn. App. at 637, ¶37.

Here, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's conclusion that a CIR did not exist based on its findings on each of the CIR factors that the Court of Appeals held were supported by substantial evidence. But as the Court of Appeals also recognized, even if the trial court erred in concluding that there was no CIR, Jorgensen's claim for an equitable division of property would fail as a matter of fact. (Op. 10-12) Jorgensen failed to prove that the three assets he sought to be equitably divided were acquired during the alleged CIR. (Op. 10) And even if "Jorgensen claimed an equitable ownership interest based on his efforts that added value to the business or Sears's real property, as the trial court noted, Jorgensen presented no evidence of the value of any asset 'at any time,' for the court to make such a determination." (Op. 11)

As the issues presented in the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion are highly fact specific and do not

present issues of public importance that this Court must weigh in on, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion does not present a significant question of law under the Constitutions of the State of Washington or of the United States.

Finally, this Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion because it does not present a significant question of law under the constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3). Jorgensen alleges that the trial court's trial management decisions "impeded" "Due Process of Law' under the fifth and fourteenth amendments." (Pet. 7) However, Jorgensen fails to identify how his due process rights have been violated by the trial court's wholly discretionary trial management decisions, as the Court of Appeals properly concluded. (Op. 12-19)

For example, on the issue of bifurcation, Jorgensen asserts that the "trial was to determine only if a CIR was existent or not" (Pet. 27), but this assertion is wrong. In

denying Jorgensen's motion to bifurcate, the trial court intended to handle the CIR claim in its entirety, which as the Court of Appeals highlighted, was necessary because "bifurcation is not favored, especially when, ... some of the same evidence would be relevant to issues adjudicated in the proposed separate trials." (Op. 13, citing *Brown v. Gen.* Motors Corp, 67 Wn.2d 278, 282, 407 P.2d 461 (1965) (bifurcation is not appropriate when "the evidence bearing issues upon the respective is commingled and overlapping.")) This holding is particularly salient when it is clear that Jorgensen "failed to cogently explain the benefit of bifurcation" and because "there is no apparent reason why a bifurcated trial could have led to a more accurate resolution of the facts or why Jorgensen could have not presented expert testimony in a non-bifurcated trial." (Op. 13)

Similarly, the trial court's enforcement of time limits during trial was well within its discretion (Op. 16-18, citing Stocker v. Univ. of Wash., 33 Wn. App. 2d 352, 359, ¶11, 561 P.3d 751 (2024)) This is particularly true when Jorgensen does not deny that he "had notice of the time limits" and that the trial court's allocation of time was "in line with the parties' pretrial estimates." (Op. 17; RP 326; CP 1072)

While Jorgensen claims that he had "more than 20 witnesses designated as those I might call to question for testimony" (Pet. 23), he never made an offer of proof as to what those other witnesses would have testified to that would be different from the testimony of witnesses he had already presented to the trial court thereby precluding review of that issue. *Estate of Bordon ex rel. Anderson v. State, Dep't of Corr.*, 122 Wn. App. 227, 246, 95 P.3d 764 (2004) (appellate review is precluded when proponent of evidence fails to make offer of proof), *rev. denied*, 154 Wn.2d 1003 (2005); *see also State v. Pierce*, 175 Wash.

523, 535, 27 P.2d 1087 (1933) (holding that there was no error because appellant failed to give offer of proof).

Indeed, Jorgensen appears to concede that an offer of proof would not change the Court of Appeals' decision since the witnesses he already presented at trial were presumably the most "credible" and "reliable" people to testify. (Pet. 24) And in any event, Jorgensen cannot show prejudice because, as the Court of Appeals emphasized, the trial court "granted additional time here, even though Jorgensen made no specific offer of proof and in spite of the fact that the record reflects Jorgensen's inefficient use of his trial time contributed to his perceived need for more time." (Op. 17-18)

Jorgensen challenges the Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court's order denying him a continuance of the trial by suggesting the trial court acted capriciously, or in a biased manner in denying him a continuance. However, Jorgensen concedes that he "cannot say for

certain" if the trial court harbored any improper motive. (Pet. 11) Jorgensen's argument thus must fail because "[b]ias or prejudice on the part of a judge is never presumed and must be affirmatively shown by the party asserting it." *Rich v. Starczewski*, 29 Wn. App. 244, 246, 628 P.2d 831, *rev. denied*, 96 Wn.2d 1002 (1981); *Estate of Hayes*, 185 Wn. App. 567, 607, ¶113, 342 P.3d 1161 (2015) ("A judge is presumed to perform his functions regularly and properly, without bias or prejudice.").

As the Court of Appeals recognized, a review of the record reflects that there were indeed valid reasons to deny a continuance, including the fact that the "case had been pending since 2020, the parties had engaged in discovery in 2020, and opposing counsel was prepared to proceed." (Op. 15) Further, there was nothing in the record to support "an inference that the court failed to review the history of the case or failed to appreciate the nature and complexity" of the case before ruling on Jorgensen's motion. (Op. 15)

Lastly, Jorgensen claims that the Court of Appeals erred by deciding his case without oral argument. (Pet. 6) However, the Court of Appeals retains discretion to decide a case without oral argument. RAP 11.4(j). And because Jorgensen never moved in the Court of Appeals for oral argument, his claim has been waived. In any event, due process does not require oral argument on a written motion, rather "oral argument is a matter of discretion so long as the movant is given the opportunity to argue in writing [their] version of the facts and law." State v. Bandura, 85 Wn. App. 87, 92-93, 931 P.2d 174 (affirming a trial court's decision to deny a motion for arrest of judgment or new trial without hearing oral argument on the matter), rev. denied, 132 Wn.2d 1004 (1997).

As Jorgensen's due process rights were not violated by the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's discretionary trial management decisions without oral argument, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Conclusion. D.

Jorgensen's petition does not satisfy any of the conditions necessary for this Court to grant review under RAP 13.4(b) and accordingly, this Court should deny review.

I certify that this answer is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 4,402 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b).

Dated this 1st day of July, 2025.

V. FREITAS LAW PLLC SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: /s/ Veronica A. Freitas By: /s/ Nicholas Bartels Veronica A. Freitas WSBA No. 19405

Nicholas Bartels WSBA No. 62844 Valerie A. Villacin WSBA No. 34515

Attorneys for Respondent